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UNITED STATES 
NUCLEAR REGULATORY COMMISSION 

REGION Ill 
2443 WARRENVILLE RD. SUITE 210 

LISLE, ILLINOIS 60532-4352 
July 10, 2014 

Metro Cardiovascular Diagnostics 
11115 New Halls Ferry Road 
Suites 301-302 
Florissant, Missouri 63033 

SUBJECT: RESULTS OF OFFICE OF INVESTIGATIONS REPORT 3-2013-024 
AND CLOSURE OF OPEN ITEMS FROM NRC INSPECTION REPORT 
NO. 03037587/2013001 (DNMS) 

Dear Dr. Siddiqui: 

On Apri118 and 19, 2013, the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) conducted a routine 
inspection at your facility in Florissant, Missouri, with continued in-office review through 
July 5, 2013. The details of the inspection were documented in NRC Inspection Report 
No. 03037587/2013001 (DNMS) issued on August 5, 2013. During the inspection, several 
unresolved items were identified that required further NRC review. The NRC Office of 
Investigations (OJ) began an investigation on June 19, 2013, to look into these unresolved items 
and the investigation was completed on April29, 2014. A factual summary of the NRC 
investigation is provided in Enclosure 1. 

Based on the results of the NRC inspection and investigation, apparent violations were 
identified and are being considered for escalated enforcement action in accordance with the 
NRC Enforcement Policy. The current Enforcement Policy is included on the NRC's Web site at 
http://www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/regulatory/enforcement/enforce-pol.html. The circumstances 
surrounding the apparent violations, the significance of the issues, and the need for lasting and 
effective corrective action were discussed with you and members of your staff during a 
telephonic exit meeting on July 1, 2014. A description of the apparent violations is provided in 
Enclosure 2 and a more detailed explanation is provided in NRC Inspection Report 
No. 03037587/2013001(DNMS). The NRC determined that the first apparent violation, involving 
your staff's use of a survey meter with an expired calibration, appeared to be willful. 

Before the NRC makes its enforcement decision, we are providing you an opportunity to: 
( 1) respond to the apparent violations addressed in the Enclosures within 30 days of the date of 
this letter; (2) request a Pre-decisional Enforcement Conference (PEC); or (3) request 
Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR). A PECor ADR session should also be held within 
30 days of the date of this letter. Please contact Aaron T. McCraw at (630) 829-9650 within 
10 days of the date of this letter to notify the NRC of your intended response. 

If you choose to provide a written response, it should be clearly marked as a "Response to 
Apparent Violations in NRC Report 03037587/2013001(DNMS); EA-14-072" and should include 
for each apparent violation: (1) the reason for the apparent violation or, if contested, the basis 
for disputing the apparent violation; (2) the corrective steps that have been taken and the results 
achieved; (3) the corrective steps that will be taken; and (4) the date when full compliance was 
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or will be achieved. Your response may reference or include previously docketed 
correspondence, if the correspondence adequately addresses the required response. If an 
adequate response is not received within the time specified or an extension of time has not 
been granted by the NRC, the NRC will proceed with its enforcement decision or schedule a 
PEC. 

If you choose to request a PEC, the conference will afford you the opportunity to provide your 
perspective on these matters and any other information that you believe the NRC should take 
into consideration before making an enforcement decision. The decision to hold a PEC does 
not mean that the NRC has determined that a violation has occurred or that enforcement action 
will be taken. This conference would be conducted to obtain information to assist the NRC in 
making an enforcement decision. The topics discussed during the conference may include 
information to determine whether a violation occurred, information to determine the significance 
of a violation, information related to the identification of a violation, and information related to 
any corrective actions taken or planned. In presenting your corrective actions, you should be 
aware that the promptness and comprehensiveness of your actions will be considered in 
assessing any civil penalty for the apparent violation. If a PEC is held, the NRC will issue a 
press release to announce the time and date of the conference; however, it will be closed to 
public observation because one of the apparent violations is based on an NRC 01 Report that 
has not been publicly disclosed and pertains to whether or not an individual has committed 
wrongdoing. 

In lieu of a PEC, you may also request Alternative Dispute Resolution (ADR) with the NRC in an 
attempt to resolve these issues. ADR is a general term encompassing various techniques for 
resolving conflicts using a third party neutral. The technique that the NRC has decided to 
employ is mediation. Mediation is a voluntary, informal process in which a trained neutral (the 
"mediator") works with parties to help them reach resolution. If the parties agree to use ADR, 
they select a mutually agreeable neutral mediator who has no stake in the outcome and no 
power to make decisions. Mediation gives parties an opportunity to discuss issues, clear up 
misunderstandings, be creative, find areas ,of agreement, and reach a final resolution of the 
issues. Additional information concerning the NRC's program can be obtained at 
http://www.nrc.gov/about-nrc/regulatory/enforcement/adr.html. The Institute on Conflict 
Resolution (ICR) at Cornell University has agreed to facilitate the NRC's program as a neutral 
third party. Please contact ICR at 877-733-9415 in addition to Mr. McCraw within 10 days of the 
date of this letter if you are interested in pursuing resolution of this issue through ADR. 

In addition, please be advised that the number and characterization of apparent violations 
described in Enclosure 2 may change as a result of further NRC review. You will be advised by 
separate correspondence of the results of our deliberations on this matter. 

In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC's "Rules of Practice," a copy of this letter, its 
enclosures, and your response, if you choose to provide one, will be made available 
electronically for public inspection in the NRC Public Document Room or from the NRC's 
Agencywide Documents Access and Management System (ADAMS), accessible from the NRC 
Web site at http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html. To the extent possible, your response 
should not include any personal privacy, proprietary, or safeguards information so that it can be 
made available to the public without redaction. 
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If you have any questions concerning this matter, please contact Mr. Aaron T. McCraw of my 
staff at 630-829-9560. 

Docket No. 03037587 
License No. 24-32636-01 

Enclosures: 
1. Factual Summary of 01 Investigation 
2. Discussion of Apparent Violations 

cc w/encls: State of Missouri 

Sincerely, 



FACTUAL SUMMARY OF NRC INVESTIGATION 

On June 19, 2013, the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission's Office of Investigations (OJ), 
Region Ill Field Office initiated an investigation to determine whether personnel at Metro 
Cardiovascular deliberately failed to: (1) calibrate a survey instrument on an annual basis; 
(2) properly perform and record waste disposal surveys; (3) perform well counter efficiency 
calibrations on an annual basis; (4) perform quarterly linearity tests; and (5) perform semi
annual leak tests. The investigation was completed on April 29, 2014, and was documented in 
01 Report No. 3-2013-024. 

The OJ investigation found that Metro Cardiovascular personnel had employed a consultant firm 
to perform their survey meter calibrations, well counter calibrations, linearity tests and leak rate 
tests. The investigation showed that the consultant firm was not called to perform the 
calibrations and tests during calendar year 2012. 

During the investigation, the Nuclear Medicine Technologist (NMT) for Metro Cardiovascular 
informed the OJ investigator that he used the survey instrument for waste release surveys even 
though he had seen that its calibration had expired and had informed the radiation safety officer 
that it needed to be recalibrated. The individual also acknowledged that he did not document 
that the instrument was out of calibration when he did the surveys, because the data was in a 
computer form and the software lacked the ability to enter or attach a comment to the survey 
data. The individual stated that he used the survey instrument because it was the instrument he 
had available. The individual acknowledged that he performed the surveys when he knew the 
survey instrument did not have a current calibration. The individual expressed uncertainty and 
raised questions to the NRC as the appropriate actions that should have been taken when the 
instrument did not get calibrated. 



Discussion of Apparent Violations 

In NRC Inspection Report 03037587/2013001 (DNMS), eight open items were identified as 
needing further review. These items were: 

1. Report Section 2.2: Failure to perform annual calibration of a survey meter. The NRC 
determined that the licensee had calibrated its survey meter on May 26, 2011, and did 
not calibrate it again until April 23, 2013, an interval greater than annually. This is an 
apparent violation of 10 CFR 35.61 (a) which requires, in part, that a licensee calibrate its 
survey instruments used to show compliance with 10 CFR Part 35 and 10 CFR Part 20 
before first use, annually, and following repairs that affects the calibration. The open 
item discussed in this section of Inspection Report 03037587/2013001 (DNMS) is closed. 

2. Report Section 3.2: Use of uncalibrated survey meter for waste disposal surveys. The 
NRC determined that the licensee used the survey meter described above for 
conducting waste disposal surveys on June 28, 2012, and November 20, 2012, which 
was after its annual calibration had expired. This is an apparent willful violation of 
License Condition 14.A which references the license application dated 
November 6, 2006. Item 11 of the license application requires implementation of a 
written waste disposal procedure. The licensee implemented the model procedure in 
Appendix W, "Model Procedure for Waste Disposal by Decay-In-Storage, Generator 
Return, and Licensed Material Return," of NUREG-1556, Volume 9, "Consolidated 
Guidance About Materials Licenses: Program-Specific Guidance About Medical Use 
Licenses," which requires, in part, that licensee's check the survey meter for current 
calibration status prior to disposal of in-house waste. The open item discussed in this 
section of Inspection Report 03037587/2013001(DNMS) is closed. 

3. Report Section 4.2: Dose calibrator linearity. The NRC determined that the licensee did 
not verify the linearity of the dose calibrator between May 26, 2011, and April 22, 2013, 
an interval greater than annually, which was the most lenient time frame allowed. This is 
an apparent violation of 10 CFR 35.60(b) and Item 9 of the license application dated 
November 6, 2006, which is referenced in License Condition 14.A. Both require that a 
licensee calibrate dose calibrators in accordance with nationally recognized standards or 
the manufacturer's instructions. The manufacturer of the dose calibrator is Capintec, 
and it recommends that a linearity test be performed quarterly. One nationally 
recognized standard, although there are others, is IEC TR 61948-4 International 
Electrotechnical Commission Technical Report "Nuclear Medicine Instrumentation -
Routine tests - Part 4: Radionuclide Calibrators." The standard specifies a yearly 
frequency for linearity tests. Both the manufacturer's instructions and a nationally 
recognized standard were exceeded. The open item discussed in this section of 
Inspection Report 03037587/2013001 (DNMS) is closed. 

4. Report Section 5.2: Well counter efficiency test. The NRC determined that the licensee 
did not verify the efficiency of the well counter betWeen May 26, 2011, and 
April 22, 2013, an interval greater than annually. This is an apparent violation of License 
Condition 14.A which references the license application dated November 6, 2006. Item 
10 of the license application requires implementation of a written area survey procedure. 
The licensee implemented the model procedure in Appendix K, "General Radiation 
Monitoring Instrument Specifications and Model Survey Instrument Calibration Program," 
of NUREG-1556, Volume 9, "Consolidated Guidance About Materials Licenses: 
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Program-Specific Guidance About Medical Use Licenses," which requires, in part, that 
gamma well counting equipment efficiency be calculated on an annual basis, before first 
use, and/or after repair. The open item discussed in this section of Inspection Report 
03037587/2013001(DNMS) is closed. 

5. Report Section 6.2. item 1: Sealed source leak tests. The NRC determined that the 
licensee last performed a sealed source leak test on December 15, 2011, and did not 
perform another one until April 23, 2013, a period greater than six months. This is an 
apparent violation of 10 CFR 35.67(b)(2) which requires a licensee in possession of a 
sealed source to test the source for leakage at intervals not to exceed six months, or at 
other intervals approved by the Commission. No other interval was approved by the 
Commission. This open item discussed in Section 6.2 of Inspection Report 
03037587/2013001(DNMS) is closed. 

6. Report Section 6.2. item 2: Sealed source physical inventories. The NRC determined 
that the licensee last performed a sealed source physical inventory on 
December 15, 2011, and did not perform another one until April 23, 2013, a period 
greater than semi-annually. This is an apparent violation of 10 CFR 35.67(g) which 
requires a licensee in possession of a sealed source to conduct a semi-annual physical 
inventory of all such sources in its possession. This open item discussed in Section 6.2 
of Inspection Report 03037587/2013001(DNMS) is closed. 

7. Report Section 7.2: Hazardous material training. The NRC determined that the licensee 
had not maintained records of hazardous material (hazmat) training after 2008. This is 
an apparent violation of 10 CFR 71.5 which invokes 49 CFR 172.704(d) which, in turn, 
requires that each hazmat employer must create and retain a record of current training 
of each hazmat employee, inclusive of the preceding three years, for as long as that 
employee is employed by that employer as a hazmat employee and for 90 days 
thereafter. The open item discussed in this section of Inspection Report 
03037587/2013001(DNMS) is closed. 

8. Report Section 8.2: Failure to perform an annual program audit. The NRC determined 
that the licensee had not performed the annual radiation protection program review 
between December 2011 and April 22, 2013, a period greater than annually. This is an 
apparent violation of 10 CFR 20.1101 (c) which requires the licensee to periodically (at 
least annually) review the radiation protection program content and implementation. The 
open item discussed in this section of Inspection Report 03037587/2013001(DNMS) is 
closed. 

9. The NRC also determined that the licensee's radiation safety officer had not 
implemented the licensee's radiation safety program from at least December 15, 2011, 
through April 22, 2013, as exemplified by the above apparent violations. This is an 
apparent violation of 10 CFR 35.24(b) which requires, in part, that a licensee appoint a 
Radiation Safety Officer, who agrees, in writing, to be responsible for implementing the 
radiation protection program. The licensee, through the Radiation Safety Officer, is 
required to ensure that radiation safety activities are being performed in accordance with 
licensee-approved procedures and regulatory requirements. 



--
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If you have any questions c oncerning this matter, please contact Mr. Aaron T. McCraw of my 
staff at 630-829-9560. 

Sincerely, 

IRA by Jack B Giessner Acting for/ 

Patrick L. Louden, Director 
Division of Nuclear Materials Safety 
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